IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC 02-311

COREGIS INSURANCE COMPANY, Designated as Movant,

VERSUS

MOSQUITO CONTROL SPECIAL TAXING DISTRICT a/k/a
THE FLORIDA KEYES MOSQUITO CONTROL DISTRICT,
Designated as Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF MOVANT, COREGIS INSURANCE COMPANY

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

Joshua D. Lerner RUMBERGER KIRK & CALDWELL Brickell Bayview Center, Suite 3000 80 Southwest 8th Street PO Box 01-9041 Miami FL 33101 (305) 358-5577

Of Counsel:

Bryan G. Schumann BOLLINGER, RUBERRY & GARVEY 500 West Madison, Suite 2300 Chicago, IL 60661-25111 (312) 466-8000

COUNSEL FOR COREGIS INSURANCE COMPANY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE	

(I) Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

This is an insurance coverage dispute. This appeal arises from a lawsuit filed by Plaintiff/Appellee, Mosquito Control District of Florida, Special Taxing District, a/k/a The Florida Keys Mosquito Control District of the State of Florida Special Taxing District (hereinafter "Plaintiff" or "the Mosquito District"), against Coregis

Insurance Company (hereinafter "Defendant" or "Coregis") which sought, inter alia, a declaration that the Plaintiff's costs of defending a petition filed against Plaintiff before a Florida administrative agency are covered under a Public Official's and Employment Liability Insurance policy issued to Plaintiff by Defendant. (R.E. Tab C).¹

On December 7, 2000, the District Court for the Southern District of Florida ruled on cross motions for summary judgment and granted summary judgment in Plaintiff's favor and denied Defendant's motion for summary judgment. (R. 62). On September 7, 2001, Defendant appealed this ruling to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit contending that the District Court erred in denying defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and in granting summary judgment in Plaintiff's favor (R. 73). The Eleventh Circuit has now certified two (2) pure issues of contract construction concerning terms which are expressly defined in Coregis' Policy: (1) "Suit" (defined as a "proceeding in a court of law"); and (2) "Money Damages" (defined as "monetary compensation for past harms or injuries"). These questions of law are now presented to this Court for resolution under Florida law.

(II) Statement of Facts

¹ R.E. is a reference to the Record Excerpts. Certain documents such as the Complaint and the Coregis Policy do not have separate document numbers in the Docket. Therefore, for ease of reference, Coregis will cite to these documents in the Record Excerpts when necessary.

Coregis issued to the Mosquito District a claims-made "Public Official's and Employment Liability Insurance" policy, No. 524-451359-7 ("the Coregis Policy" or "the Policy") for the period of October 1, 1996 to October 1, 1997 (R.E. Tab B). With respect to coverage for defense costs, the Policy only obligates Coregis to pay "Claim Expenses" (i.e., defense fees and costs) incurred in the defense of "covered Suits." (Emphasis added.) The Policy expressly defines "Suit" as "a proceeding in a court of law where "Money Damages" may be awarded". (Emphasis added.) The Policy defines "Money Damages" as "monetary compensation for past harms or injuries". (Emphasis added.) (R.E. Tab B - Section V-Definitions).

In this action, the Mosquito District seeks a declaration that the Policy obligates Coregis to reimburse it for the costs it incurred in responding to an administrative petition brought against it before an <u>administrative agency</u> -- the Florida Monroe County Career Service Counsel (hereinafter "F.M.C.C.S.C.") by Dennis Wardlow, (hereinafter "Wardlow") a former employee of the Mosquito District. (R.E. Tab C). All other claims between the parties were previously settled and released.² (R. 51).

² In this action the parties also previously disputed other claims by the Mosquito District for recovery of defense costs it incurred to defend itself against lawsuits filed in Florida State Court. The parties settled these claims. The Mosquito District claim for recovery of "Claim Expenses" in connection with the

The F.M.C.C.S.C. consists of five (5) "members" created by the Florida legislature pursuant to Chapter 69-1321 of the Florida Statutes. *Ch. 69-1321*, § 4, *Laws of Fla. (1969) (amended by Ch. 76-439, Laws of Fla. (1976)*. (R. 54 - Exhibit B). Pursuant to the limited authority granted by the Florida legislature, the F.M.C.C.S.C. has authority to conduct hearings only on employment-related matters where a qualified employee has been suspended, discharged, given a reduction in pay or demoted. The F.M.C.C.S.C. has no other authority. *Id.* (R. 54-Exhibit B).

In his administrative petition against Plaintiff, <u>Wardlow sought only equitable</u> relief. Wardlow requested that the F.M.C.C.S.C. "<u>determine</u>" (i.e. declare) the following employment-related issues:

- (a) that Wardlow had committed no employment related act which would constitute a disciplinary violation; and
- (b) that there was no budgetary or other managerial basis for the Mosquito District's termination or elimination of either Wardlow or his position with the Mosquito District.

For relief, Wardlow requested <u>reinstatement</u> of his job (i.e. <u>equitable</u> relief). He also requested the attorney's fees and costs incurred in seeking that equitable relief. (R.

administrative petition is the only claim not compromised and adjudicated by the parties (via cross motions for summary judgment).

54-Exhibit C).

Coregis declined to pay for the Mosquito District's costs to defend against Wardlow's administrative petition because: 1) the petition did not seek "Money Damages" (as required); and, 2) was not a proceeding in a court of law (as required).³

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is clear that the F.M.C.C.S.C. is not a "court of law" but, rather, it is unquestionably an <u>administrative agency</u> created by Florida Statute. *See e.g.*Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services v. Strickland, 262 So. 2d 893, 895

(Fla. 1st DCA 1972). The District Court also erroneously held that the F.M.C.C.S.C. petition against Plaintiff sought "Money Damages" solely because in addition to requesting equitable relief, the petitioner sought reimbursement of his attorneys' fees incurred in pursuing the petition, even though "Money Damages" is defined as "monetary <u>compensation</u> for <u>past</u> harms or injuries". (R. 62, P. 6). Ironically, the

³ There is no indemnity claim by the Mosquito District against Coregis because Wardlow's administrative petition only sought equitable relief and attorneys' fees (which are not covered under the Policy) and Wardlow received <u>no award</u> pursuant to his administrative petition.

District Court so held even though the plaintiff did not even assert this argument.

Moreover, the District Court cited no authority to support either of its erroneous conclusions.

The Policy only obligates Coregis to pay defense costs in defense of <u>covered</u> "Suits". The definition of "Suit" is "a proceeding in a <u>court of law</u>." While the phrase "court of law" is not itself defined in the Policy, Florida law has clearly determined that an administrative agency is <u>not a court of law</u>. This rather obvious fact is supported by numerous decisions. (*See* Argument *supra*). Since there was no "Suit" the Policy does not obligate Coregis to defend the Mosquito District against the administrative petition.

Further, even if Wardlow <u>had</u> filed a suit against Plaintiff in a court of law, the Policy still only obligates Coregis to pay defense costs for "<u>covered</u> **Suits**" i.e. where "**Money Damages**" (as defined) are sought. Wardlow's request that he be reimbursed for his attorneys' fees spent in pursuing his petition against Plaintiff was not a request for "monetary <u>compensation</u> for <u>past</u> harm or injuries" (i.e. the definition of "**Money Damages**"). A request for attorneys' fees is a request to be compensated for a claimant's <u>current expense</u> of pursuing remedies but is <u>not compensation</u> for the <u>past</u>

harm or injury itself and, therefore, does not satisfy the policy definition of "Money Damages" (discussed *infra.*). Accordingly, since there could be no coverage under Coregis' Policy for the equitable relief sought in the administrative petition brought against the Mosquito District, the Policy does not obligate Coregis to defend the Mosquito District against the administrative petition for this reason too.

ARGUMENT

The United States District Court for the Eleventh Circuit has essentially certified these two (2) contract construction questions to this Honorable Court: (1) whether, under Florida law, the F.M.C.C.S.C. is a "court of law;" and (2) whether, under Florida law, Wardlow's petition sought "monetary compensation for past harms or injuries," i.e. "Money Damages" as defined by the Coregis policy. Because this matter is before this Court on certified questions from the Eleventh Circuit, standards of review are not properly addressed in this brief.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING BEFORE THE F.M.C.C.S.C. WAS NOT A PROCEEDING IN A COURT OF LAW

The sole issue on appeal is the Mosquito District's claim to recover the defense costs it incurred in responding to the administrative petition brought against the Mosquito District by a former employee. The Policy only creates a duty on the part of Coregis to defend "covered Suits" (i.e. a proceeding in a court of law where "Money Damages" may be awarded) and limits Coregis' obligation to pay "Claim Expenses" to those incurred in the defense of "covered Suits." (R.E. Tab B - Section

⁴ The policy explicitly defines "Claim Expenses" to mean fees and costs charged by any lawyer retained by the Company and, if authorized by the Company, all other reasonable fees or costs incurred in the defense of a Suit.

II.B.1). The policy explicitly defines "**Suit**" to mean a "proceeding in a court of law where "**Money Damages**" may be awarded." Wardlow's petition against Plaintiff before the F.M.C.C.S.C. was not a "**Suit**" because it was a petition before an <u>administrative agency</u> and not a proceeding in a court of law. The question of whether the F.M.C.C.S.C. is a "court of law" under Florida has been certified.

At least one court applying Florida law has addressed what constitutes a "suit" as that term is utilized in the context of an insurance policy. *See Racal-Datacom Inc. v. Insurance Company of North America*, 1998 WL 1173527 (S.D. Fla. 1998). In *Racal*, the policy required the insurer to defend "suits." "Suit," however, was not defined in that policy. The *Racal* court determined that "suit" was understood to mean a "proceeding in a court of law." The *Racal* court held that an action by an administrative agency (in this case, the Environmental Protection Agency) did <u>not</u> constitute a proceeding in a <u>court of law</u> and, therefore, no defense obligation existed under the policy. 1998 WL 1173527 at 5. This position is supported by decisions of several courts across the country. *See e.g. Foster-Gardner, Inc. v. National Union Fire Ins. Co. Of Pittsburgh, Pa.*, 959 P.2d

⁽Emphasis Added.) (R.E. Tab B - Section V - Definitions).

265 (Cal. 1998); *Lapham-Hickey Steel Corp. v. Protection Mut. Ins. Co.*, 655 N.E.2d 842 (Ill. 1995); *City of Edgerton v. General Ca. Co. of Wis.*, 517 N.W.2d 463 (Wis. 1994). Likewise, the Wardlow petition was a proceeding before an administrative agency and not before a court of law. Therefore, no "**Suit**" within the meaning of the policy was brought.

Other courts have recognized that administrative bodies such as the F.M.C.C.S.C. are not courts of law but merely administrative agencies with limited jurisdiction which are not bound by the same rules that apply to courts. *See e.g.*, *Department of Corrections v. Career Service Commission*, 429 So. 2d 1244, 1245 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (holding that the Florida Career Service Counsel is an administrative body established by statute with limited jurisdiction); *Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services v. Strickland*, 262 So. 2d 893, 895 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972) (administrative *bodies like the Career Service Counsel are only quasi-judicial and are not bound by* formalities common to courts of justice); *Florida Department of Law Enforcement v. Hinson*, 429 So. 2d 723, 724 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (commission is an agency created by statute that may not exceed the authority granted by that statute). (R. 54 - Exhibit B).

The indisputable fact that administrative bodies are not courts of law has been

recognized by numerous courts at both the federal and state levels, including this Court. For example, in the case of *Scholastic Systems, Inc. v. LeLoup*, 307 So. 2d 166 (Fla. 1975) this Court held that :

In recognizing the IRC as a judicial tribunal performing the functions of a court for purposes of the 'due process' provision of the constitution, we do not intend to imply that the IRC is literally a 'court....'

307 So. 2d at 170. Thus, this Court has already rejected the very argument that the Mosquito District makes now - that an administrative agency is a "court."

Furthermore, this Court has specifically distinguished courts from administrative agencies by holding that a party is afforded his "day in court" (as required by the Florida Constitution) when he has a right to a hearing and he has the right to appeal to a judicial tribunal the decision of an administrative body. 307 So. 2d at 169 (Emphasis added). This common-sense distinction is evident in other Florida cases as well. *See State v. Lewis*, 550 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (holding that the "judicial branch of government is not a state agency"); *see also Chief Judge v. Board of County Commissioners*, 401 So. 2d 1330 (Fla. 1981) (holding that "courts are not simply another agency of state or county government").

Courts in other jurisdictions agree. For example, in *United States of America* v. *Bowman*, 263 F. Supp. 548, 550 (M.D. Pa. 1964), the court held that investigations

by federal administrative agencies are not judicial proceedings and are not restricted by the rules of evidence applicable in courts of law. *See also*, *Yeager v. Boobytrap Lounge*, 429 N.W.2d 620, 621-622 Mich. Ct. App. (1998) (Workers' Compensation Appeal Board is not a court of law).

In holding that the F.M.C.C.S.C. is a "court of law," the District Court cited to no authority and relied solely upon an argument not even raised by the Mosquito District. The District Court's ruling that the F.M.C.C.S.C. is a "court of law" was based upon the District Court's selective reference to Black's Law Dictionary. The District Court referred to the definition of "court of law" contained in Black's Law Dictionary without reference to any of the definitions of the terms used in that definition. On Page 6 of its Order, the Court stated:

Coregis argues that the MCCSC Petition is not covered because it is not a "suit" under the terms of the policy. The policy defines "suit" as: "a proceeding in a court of law where Money Damages may be awarded." Since "court of law" is not defined in the policy, the court refers to Black's Law Dictionary which defines "court of law" as "any duly constituted tribunal administering the laws of the state or nation." (R. 62, P. 6).

The District Court then implicitly concluded that the F.M.C.C.S.C. is a "tribunal administering the laws" of the State of Florida. Coregis respectfully asserts that the Court's reliance solely upon Black's definition of "court of law" was incomplete

without also relying upon Black's definition of "tribunal." Black's defines a "tribunal" as:

"the seat of a judge; a court of law; the place where he administers justice. The whole body of <u>judges</u> who compose a jurisdiction; a <u>judicial</u> court; the jurisdiction which the <u>judges</u> exercise." (Emphasis added.) *Black's Law Dictionary* (1991 6th Edition).

Pursuant to Florida Regulations, the F.M.C.C.S.C. consists of five "members." There is no requirement that any of these "members" even be an attorney, let alone a <u>judge</u>. (R. 54 - Exhibit B). Accordingly, Coregis respectfully asserts that the District Court erred in holding that the F.M.C.C.S.C. is a "court of law" under Florida law.

WARDLOW'S PETITION DID NOT SEEK "MONETARY COMPENSATION FOR PAST HARMS OR INJURIES," AND, THEREFORE, DID NOT SEEK "MONEY DAMAGES" AS DEFINED BY THE COREGIS POLICY

The administrative petition against the Mosquito District sought two specific forms of relief: 1) Reinstatement of petitioner's job and; 2) Reimbursement of the petitioner's attorneys' fees incurred in filing and pursuing the petition. (R. 54 - Exhibit C).

Based upon the language of the Policy's insuring agreement and the explicit definitions of the insuring agreement terms, there is no credible argument that the

relief requested via the petition could somehow be "covered" by the insuring agreement of the Policy. First, the petition itself, sought only <u>equitable</u> (i.e. not monetary compensation) relief plus attorneys' fees. (R. 54 - Exhibit C). Wardlow's request for his attorney's fees incurred in seeking that equitable relief against Plaintiff did not constitute "monetary <u>compensation</u> for <u>past</u> harms or injuries" and, therefore, could not constitute "**Money Damages**" as defined by the Policy.

Furthermore, since no "Money Damages" were sought by the petition, no "Claim" (i.e., a demand for "Money Damages" as of right) was included in the petition. Additionally, since the definition of "Loss" includes the defined term "Money Damages," there also was no "Loss" sought against the Mosquito District. Moreover, even assuming *arguendo* that the relief sought via the petition could somehow have satisfied the insuring agreement of the Policy, Exclusion C would then apply to exclude any "coverage" for the relief sought, because claims for equitable relief are also specifically excluded from coverage.⁵

⁵ This Policy does not apply to the following, regardless of the cause of action or legal theory alleged: [...] C. any demand or proceeding seeking relief or redress in any form other than **Money Damages**, including any form of injunctive or other equitable relief, including, but not limited to, restitution, replevin, unjust enrichment, declaratory judgments, or an accounting. (Emphasis added.) (R.E. Tab B - Section IV - Exclusions).

Leaving aside the fact that no court of law was involved, the only way that the relief sought against Plaintiff could potentially be covered would be if the petitioner's request for reimbursement of his attorneys' fees against Plaintiff was a demand for compensation for past harms or injuries. The District Court summarily concluded that it was without any explanation or citation to authority. Specifically, page 7 of the District Court's Order states:

Inasmuch as the MCCSC Petition is a "suit" [i.e. a "proceeding in a court of law"] and Wardlow was seeking monetary compensation for past harms or injuries in the form of attorney's fees, the policy required Coregis to indemnify FKMCD and to provide a legal defense for the claims asserted in the Petition because FKMCD could become legally obligated to pay the attorney's fees. (Emphasis added.) (R. 62, P. 7).

No where does the District Court's opinion explain how or why it could be that Wardlow's request for attorneys' fees against the Mosquito District constituted a demand for "monetary compensation for past harms or injuries."

Although no Florida court has addressed this specific issue, other jurisdictions have specifically held that an award of attorneys fees is not <u>compensation</u> for <u>past</u> injuries and, therefore, can <u>not</u> be considered "damages" under an insurance policy. *See e.g., U.S. v. Security Management Co.*, Inc., 96 F.3d 260 (7th Cir. 1996). Each of

29

these decisions is well-reasoned and should be accepted as persuasive authority under Florida law.

In the California case of *Cutler-Orosi Unified School Dist. v. Tulare County School Districts Liability/Property Self-Insurance Authority*, 31 Cal. App. 4th 617, 37 Cal. Rptr. 2d 106 (1994). In *Cutler-Orosi*, the insured sought insurance coverage for an award of attorneys' fees against the insured and pursuant to the Voting Rights Act. In holding that a claim for attorney's fees was not a claim for "damages", the court stated:

...an award of attorney fees like other costs, "does not compensate the plaintiff for the injury that first brought him into court[;] [i]nstead, the award reimburses him for a portion of the expenses he incurred in seeking...relief." (*Hutto v. Finney* 437 U.S. 678, 695 (1978) fn.24). Attorneys' fees therefore are inconsistent with the concept of "damages" as the term is used in its ordinary and popular sense, that is, compensation paid to a party for the loss or detriment suffered because of the wrongful act of another...Second, broadly interpreting the word "damages" to include all forms of civil monetary liability effectively renders meaningless the "as damages" limitation in the Industrial policies. (Emphasis added.)

Cutler-Orosi, 31 Cal. App. 4th at 632, 37 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 115.

Here, as in *Cutler-Orosi*, even if the F.M.C.C.S.C. <u>had</u> awarded Wardlow his attorneys' fees, against the Mosquito District, it clearly would not have been <u>compensation</u> for any <u>past</u> harm allegedly done to him. As such, his request for

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