**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

**CASE NUMBER SC 02-311**

**COREGIS INSURANCE COMPANY,  
Designated as Movant,**

**VERSUS**

**MOSQUITO CONTROL SPECIAL TAXING DISTRICT a/k/a  
THE FLORIDA KEYES MOSQUITO CONTROL DISTRICT,  
Designated as Respondent.**

**ANSWER BRIEF**

**ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT**

#

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

restore an employee plaintiff to his former position, and would be a logical consequence of the insured's past actions which harmed him.

“[R]esort should not be made to uncommon meanings nor contextual distortion.” Morrison Assurance Co. v. School Bd. Of Suwannee County, 414 So.2d 581, 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). It requires a very narrow, legalistic and hypertechnical interpretation of “monetary compensation for past harms or injuries” to exclude attorney’s fees and costs from the definition of “Money Damages.” Having failed to define those terms, Coregis cannot now insist on the most narrow interpretation of those terms possible. See National Merchandise Co., 400 So.2d at 530.

If Coregis wanted to exclude such compensation from coverage, it could easily have done so, and should have done so explicitly. See Golden Door Jewelry Creations, 117 F.3d at 1338; Nixon, 290 So.2d at 28-29; Progressive Ins., 702 So.2d at 55; Croom’s Transportation, 692 So.2d at 256. Indeed, the policy contains numerous express exclusions from the definition of “Loss.” (A3 at ¶ V.L.). Attorney’s fees are specifically excluded only in a very limited context, i.e., where they are taxed against the Insured but “another entity or insurer is obligated to defend or reimburse the Insured for such costs.” (A3 at ¶ V.L.7.).

Reading the exclusionary language strictly as required by law, the language

of the policy specifically contemplates that attorney's fees in other contexts would be covered. If attorney's fees were not otherwise covered as "**Loss**," there would be no reason to expressly exclude fees in that specific context. Thus, under the specific language of this policy, attorney's fees are "Money Damages" and Coregis had a duty to defend the District against Wardlow's petition.

As the Eleventh Circuit noted in its opinion certifying this case, there is no dispositive Florida case law on the issue of whether attorney's fees constitute "damages" under an insurance contract. Moreover, no Florida case addresses whether attorney's fees can be money damages under an insurance contract where, as here, there is language in the contract indicating that attorney's fees generally are covered. However, currently pending before this Court is Home Away from Home of Holly Hill, Inc. v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., Case No. SC01-2279, which addresses the issue of whether attorney's fees constitute "damages" in the context of a different insurance contract. In that case, the Fifth District ruled that attorney's fees did not constitute "damages" under policy language that "[t]he company will pay on behalf of the insured all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay as **damages** because of injury to which this insurance applies." Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. Haynes, 793 So.2d 1006, 1008 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). The language of the Scottsdale policy differs from the Coregis policy at

issue in this case both because the Coregis policy is not an “all sums” policy, and more importantly, because there apparently is no language in the Scottsdale policy excluding attorney’s fees from the definition of “damages” in some contexts but not in others.<sup>5</sup>

To the extent the Fifth District ruled in Scottsdale that attorney’s fees are never “damages” under an insurance policy, that decision is incorrect. First, the court did view the policy through the proper lens. The policy did not define “damages,” yet the court apparently did not consider the rule that when an insurer chooses not to define a term in the policy, the insurer cannot “insist upon a narrow, restrictive interpretation of the coverage provided.” National Merchandise Co., 400 So.2d at 530. Nor did the court look at the common, ordinary meaning of the term “damages,” but instead at the narrow, specific legal use of that term.

Indeed, the Fifth District relied less on the the language of the policy itself than on a misapplication of Florida law addressing attorney’s fees in a very different context. The court stated that: “It is generally held that attorney’s fees are not damages, but are ancillary to damages, and are not part of a substantive claim.” Id. at 1009. However, the court relied for support on cases involving pleading and

---

<sup>5</sup>As these cases involve different policy language, a ruling in one case does not necessarily mandate the same ruling in the other.

proof of attorney's fees: Cheek v. McGowan Electric Supply Co., 511 So.2d 977 (Fla. 1987); B&H Constr. & Supply Co. v. District Bd. Of Trustees of Tallahassee Community College, 542 So.2d 382 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

In Cheek, this Court held that proof of attorney's fees need not be presented at trial but may be presented after final judgment.

The district courts of appeal which have held that contractually authorized attorney's fees are subject to jury trial do so on the premise that attorney's fees are recoverable as a part of the damages. We differ with that conclusion because the recovery of attorney's fees is ancillary to the claim for damages.

511 So.2d at 979. However, this Court's decision in Cheek (applied by the First District in B&H) had a very practical basis: "[A]n attorney's fee can only be recovered after the determination of the prevailing party has been made." Id.

This Court later clarified Cheek, and in so doing distanced itself from language in that opinion implying that attorney's fees are not damages:

[T]he reference in [Cheek] to the "collateral," "independent," and "ancillary" nature of claims for attorney's fees recognizes only that the proof required in such claims is not integral to the main cause of action. A motion for attorney's fees requires consideration of factors distinct from the issues decided on the merits of the cause of action. Thus, it is not improper to adjudicate entitlement to attorney's fees after resolution of the other claims.

Stockman v. Downs, 573 So.2d 835, 837 (Fla. 1991). In Stockman, the district court had used the rationale of Cheek to rule that attorney's fees need not be pled because they are "collateral and independent" of a claim for damages. Id. This Court quashed the district court's decision, holding that a claim for attorney's fees must be pled or it is waived. Id. at 837-38. Thus, this Court in Stockman ruled that attorney's fees should be treated like damages for some purposes, but not for others.

This is not a new concept. For example, attorney's fees are considered elements of damage for the purpose of calculating the jurisdictional limits of the county court. See Prudential Ins. Co. v. Lamm, 218 So.2d 219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969). The rationale for this is that attorney's fees are not considered "costs" unless made so by statute. Id. at 219. If not specifically designated as "costs," "they are to be treated as an element of damages." Id. Also, attorney's fees are "damages" when sought by an indemnitee when his insurance company wrongfully fails to defend. Pruess v. United States Fire Ins. Co., 414 So.2d 249, 250 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). The context is all important. The fact that attorney's fees are not considered "damages" in one context does not necessary mean that are not or should not be considered "damages" in another.

This Court's choice of language in Cheek is very revealing in another way.

This Court specifically disagreed with the district courts' "**conclusion**" that a jury trial was required for attorney's fees claims, not with the "**premise**" on which that conclusion was based: "that attorney's fees are recoverable as part of the damages." 511 So.2d at 979. Especially after Stockman, the shoulders of Cheek are not broad enough to support the district court's use of it in Scottsdale.

Coregis cites only two cases in support of its claim that attorney's fees cannot be considered "Money Damages": A Seventh Circuit case interpreting Wisconsin law, United States v. Security Mgmt. Co., 96 F.3d 260 (7th Cir. 1996); and a California case applying California law, Cutler-Orosi Unified School Dist. v. Tulare County School Dists. Liability/Property Self Ins. Auth., 37 Cal.Rptr.2d 106 (Ct.App. 1994). Neither case is on point. Not only does neither case apply the same policy language used in this policy, neither apply Florida law. Moreover, both cases also involve claims under federal statutes that categorize attorney's fees as separate from damages. See Security Mgmt. Co., 96 F.3d 260 (Fair Housing Act); Cutler-Orosi, 37 Cal.Rptr.2d 106 (Voting Rights Act).

Other courts have held that attorney's fees were "damages" under insurance contracts. See Independent Petrochemical Corp. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 944 F.2d 940 (D.C. Cir. 1991); Hyatt Corp. v. Occidental Fire & Cas., 801 S.W.2d 382 (Mo.Ct.App. 1990); City of Ypsilanti v. Appalachia Ins. Co., 547 F.Supp. 823

(S.D.Mich. 1982), aff'd, 725 F.2d 682 (6th Cir. 1983); Kelloch v. S&H Subwater Salvage, Inc., 397 F.Supp. 742 (E.D.La. 1973); Barton Protective Servs., Inc. v. Coverx Corp., 615 So.2d 438 (La.Ct.App. 1993). For example, the court in Hyatt stated that “an award of attorneys’ fees is indistinguishable from a damages award for coverage purposes.” 801 S.W.2d at 393.

This Court should rule that, absent an express exclusion in the policy, attorney’s fees constitute “damages” under liability insurance policies. To hold otherwise would frustrate the very purpose for which insureds purchase liability policies -- to protect them against all financial liability if sued. It is absurd to read policy language in such a way that insureds are left exposed to liability for attorney’s fees assessed as part of the judgment -- an amount which often far exceeds the amount of “actual damages.” If insurance companies wish to limit coverage in this way they must be required to do so unequivocally and in plain English.

Coregis did not so limit “Money Damages” in this policy and cannot do so now. At a minimum, what a review of the policy language, as well as the state of the law in Florida and elsewhere, shows is that reasonable minds can differ about whether attorney’s fees should be considered “damages” or “compensation for past harms or injuries.” One interpretation would allow coverage, and one would limit



coverage. As previously noted, this means that the policy language should be interpreted liberally in favor of the District, and in favor of coverage to include attorney's fees. See Auto-Owners, 756 So.2d at 34.

**B. Wardlow's petition also sought damages in the form of back wages.**

Coregis would like this Court to believe that resolution of this case depends on interpreting "Money Damages" in this contract to include attorney's fees -- it does not. There is a reason the Eleventh Circuit did not limit its certified question to whether attorney's fees constitute "Money Damages." Wardlow's MCCSC action also included a claim for back wages.<sup>6</sup>

The initial petition stated that petitioner Wardlow believed the District would "'lay off' the Petitioner at its next 'emergency' Board meeting." (A4 Exhibit "C" at ¶ 25). Improperly placing Wardlow on administrative leave and

---

<sup>6</sup>The federal district court did not reach this question. It did not have to as it ruled the petition sought "Money Damages" in the form of attorney's fees. (A2 at 7). There is no factual dispute that Wardlow filed a "Position Statement" or what that pleading said. See (A5). The legal effect of that pleading is a question of law that is appropriate for summary judgment. See Cox v. CSX Intermodal, Inc., 732 So.2d 1092 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(where determination depends upon construction of written instrument and the legal effect of that instrument, issue is one of law determinable on summary judgment); see also TLZ Properties v. Kilburn-Young Asset Mgmt. Corp., 937 F.Supp. 1573 (M.D.Fla.), aff'd, 119 F.3d 10 (11th Cir. 1996)(Same).

eliminating his position would be a “Wrongful Act,”<sup>7</sup> and the District would be legally obligated for back pay if assessed by the MCCSC. See Ch. 69-1321, Laws of Fla. Back wages fit any reasonable definition of the terms “compensation” or “**past** harms or injuries.”<sup>8</sup> Because the facts alleged in the MCCSC petition could

---

<sup>7</sup>The policy defines “Wrongful Act” as “any act, error, or omission of an Insured constituting a breach of a duty imposed by law or a breach of an Employment Contract.” (A3 at ¶ V.F.).

<sup>8</sup>Coregis argued in the district court that back wages were excluded from the definition of “Loss” by an “Employment Benefits Exclusion” attached to the policy. Coregis did not make the argument in its initial brief in the Eleventh Circuit and has not made that argument in this Court. It is therefore waived under the rules of the this Court and the Eleventh Circuit. See United States v. Kimmons, 1 F.3d 1144, 1145 (11th Cir.1993)(“arguments raised for first time in a reply brief not properly before the reviewing court”); Cochran v. State, 476 So.2d 207, 208 (Fla. 1985).

Moreover, that provision excluded “Employment Benefits owed as a result of an Employment Contract.” (A3). The policy defines “Employment Benefits” as “wages, salaries, bonuses, incentives, perquisites, fringe benefits, or other payments, entitlements benefits owed to any Employee as a result of an Employment Contract.” However, Wardlow did not have an employment contract. He was a career service employee whose rights to employment, and any benefits which flowed from those rights, were imposed by law and not an employment contract. Wardlow’s petition was based on a violation of Chapter 69-1321, i.e. that his damages were a result of “discrimination caused by political affiliations,” and not a breach of an employment contract. See (A4 Exhibit “C”).

Moreover, if that exclusion means what Coregis claimed, it directly conflicts with other provisions of the policy, such as the “Enhanced Employment Liability Endorsement.” That endorsement, for which the District paid an additional premium, expanded the “Employment Claims” covered by the policy to include “any Claim by an employee Arising Out Of employee hiring, advancement, **remuneration, treatment**, condition or **termination of employment.**” (A3). As

form the basis for relief clearly covered by the policy, at a minimum Coregis had a duty to defend under a reservation of rights. See First American Title Ins. Co.v. National Union Fire Ins.Co., 695 So.2d 475, 476-77 (Fla. 3d DCA1997).

Moreover, even if the potential for relief covered by the policy was ambiguous at the time of the initial petition, that ambiguity was removed when Wardlow filed his “Position Statement” after his position was finally eliminated. (A5). That pleading made it clear that Wardlow was seeking back wages.

If the complaint does not show a basis for relief covered by the policy, but “it later becomes apparent that claims not originally within the scope of the pleadings are being made which are within the insurance coverage, the insurance carrier upon notification would then become obligated to defend.” C.A. Fielland, Inc. v. Fidelity & Cas. Co., 297 So.2d 122, 127 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974); see also Grissom, 610 So.2d at 1307; Baron Oil, 470 So.2d at 814-15. The reason for this is that we no longer follow the rigid pleading rules of the past. “[T]he dimensions of a lawsuit are not determined by the pleadings because the pleadings are not a rigid and unchangeable blueprint of the rights of the parties.” C.A. Fielland, 297

---

such, the policy is ambiguous and must be construed in favor of coverage. Any other interpretation would render the “enhanced” coverage of this endorsement meaningless.

So.2d at 127 (citation omitted). Therefore, regardless of whether Wardlow's initial petition showed a basis for relief covered by the policy, when Wardlow filed his position statement that petition was effectively amended.<sup>9</sup> Once Coregis was notified of that position statement, the duty to defend attached.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup>Coregis argued in the district court that Wardlow's "Position Statement" did not amend the petition. However, Coregis cited nothing in support of its position, and did not argue this in its initial brief to the Eleventh Circuit, and does not make that argument in this Court. That argument has also been waived.

Coregis' brief simply ignores the existence of that later pleading. There is no reason to believe that under the rules of the MCCSC, the possible relief was limited to what was mentioned in the original petition, or that a later filed pleading would not be sufficient where, as here, circumstances had changed from the time the initial petition was filed. The rules and regulations of the MCCSC do not specifically address amending a petition. (R2-60 at exhibit B). The "Position Statement" meets all the requirements in the rules for the information required in a petition. (A5). Moreover, Wardlow's claim for back wages did not accrue until his position was actually eliminated -- after the initial petition was filed.

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